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Summary

The Lentz-Carter Merchandise Store is located at 744 Ozark Street on the south edge of Stella,
Newton County, Missouri. Built in 1890, the rectangular two-story building measures
approximately 60x22. It is constructed primarily of oak studs and clapboard siding. The property
faces east and shares a party wall with a smaller one-story building to the north. The primary
facade originally featured a high tombstone-shaped parapet that can be seen in the mural in the
Newton County Courthouse, depicting the early life in Newton County. In 1934' the parapet was
replaced with a shorter, narrower parapet that echoes the gabled roof save for the clipped top.
The lower story features a storefront with a recessed entry that sits on a limestone foundation in a
poor state of repair. The storefront appears for the most part unaltered. Large four-pane display
windows flank a double-leaf entrance. Below the windows are painted molded panels that extend
along the bottom of the storefront. A metal shed-roof awning, historic but not original, extends
over the storefront to the buildings to the north. Although there have been minor changes to the
fenestration, the Lentz-Carter building largely retains its original appearance and much of its
original materials.

Elaboration

Constructed in 1890, the Lentz-Carter building is the oldest building standing in Stella, a small
town in the southwestern corner of Missouri. It is located at the south end of Ozark Street, close
to Indian Creek, which meanders south of the property. The building sits on a limestone
foundation on the corner lot on the north edge of the property. The south edge was intentionally
left vacant for displaying farm machinery.

The property was constructed out of two-by-four oak studs and is covered by pine clapboard. The
storefront features a recessed entry of double doors flanked by large four-paned display windows.
Although the woodwork has been painted, all of the materials of the storefront appear to be
original. Decorative pilasters at opposite ends of the storefront are the only feature not visible in
historic photos. However, it could be that the pilasters were not painted in the historic photos and
thus do not show up. There are two two-over-two double-hung windows on the second story that
also appear original to the building. These have been boarded from the inside leaving the
windows visible. In historic photographs, a small air-vent to the attic space is centered above
these windows. A few of the clapboards are missing in the upper portion of the fagade so it is
unknown if this air vent was removed or simply lost when the boards fell off. The building is
accessed by a raised concrete sidewalk (with the stairs to the south of the building) that extends
to the north. It has a pipe hand rail, which connects to the metal awning.

' Howard Spiva, citizen of Stella, interview with Charles and Doris Dalbom (original preparers), November 11,
2007.
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Historic photographs and the mural in the Newton County Courthouse depict the Lentz-Carter
building with a large tombstone-shaped parapet. In 1939 the parapet was narrowed to more
closely follow the gable roofline. This change occurred within the period of significance (1890-
1940). The windows and remaining clapboard of this area appear unaltered. As mentioned a few
portions of the clapboard have fallen away beneath the apex of the clipped parapet. This has left
some of the roof beams exposed.

The north side of the building shares a party wall with a smaller one-story commercial block
property. The back (west side) of the building has one doorway on the second-story that leads to
a modern wooden landing and at one time a stair (this was later torn down due to deterioration).
It is assumed this was originally a fire escape, as a two-foot step was needed to reach the door
jam in the interior of the building. An attic air vent with a metal grill is the only other feature on
this side of the property.

The south side has a door at the rear and three small fixed windows on the first floor. These
windows do not appear in historic photos and it is unknown when they were installed. The upper
floor has three gabled dormers.

The interior of the building is very plain. The walls and ceiling are covered with beaded board
and are unbroken except for two doors on the north wall. The first floor is relatively open with
two small rooms in the back. The room to the south has a door leading to the outside. The other
small room was converted into a bathroom around 1950%. The stairs proceed to a landing in the
northwest corner and then turn south to the second floor. What is believed to be the fire escape
door is on the rear wall and two feet above the stair treads. Except for a small room next to the
stairway, the upper floor is one large room. The north and west walls of this level are
windowless. The two windows on the east side are boarded while the three windows on the south
side are still open. The upper floor’s walls and ceiling are covered with beaded board. The ceiling
is down in part of this area exposing the truss structure that supports the roof. The ceiling is eight
feet in the center to four feet from each wall where it slopes to the outside wall to a height of six
feet.

The roof is a combination of ribbed steel and asphalt shingles. While this is most certainly not
the original roof, the historic roofline is maintained.

Although there have been some minor changes such as the metal awning and additional windows
on the south side, much of the building remains original. The clapboard, admittedly in need of
repair, appears to be the same depicted in historic photos of the business’s early years. Likewise
the storefront windows and the widows on the east and upper level of the south side also appear
original.

: Spiva interview, November 11, 2007.
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The building is in dire need of repair. There is a large rod with nut on the south side of the
building between the floors to keep the building from collapsing. The owners plan to restore this
building to its former historic splendor.
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Summary

The Lentz-Carter building, historically called the Lentz-Carter Merchandise Store, is located at
744 Ozark Street in Stella, Newton County, Missouri. Opened in 1890 as a general merchandise
store, the Lentz-Carter building is eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places
under Criterion A with local significance in the area of COMMERCE. It is the oldest surviving
building in Stella and is considered the first commercial building in the area. J.G. Lentz and
James Carter opened the building in 1890 to provide the community with general goods and
wares and as a market for the local farmers. In addition to serving as an outlet for essential wares
and groceries, the Lentz-Carter Merchandise Store was also important as a location for social
gatherings. Like most general stores of its time, locals would congregate in or outside the shop to
share the news of the day. The Lentz-Carter building was also utilized as a meeting hall by the
community and by organizations. For instance, its upper floor served as a Masonic lodge for over
sixty years. It was such an important meeting place in southeastern Newton County that the first
telephone in Stella was installed in the building. It played a crucial role in the community for
fifty years. The period of significance (1890-1940) reflects the Lentz-Carter Merchandise Store’s
years of operation.

Elaboration

Stella, Missouri, population 178, is located 17 miles southeast of Neosho in the southeastern part
of Newton County. It is located near a group of natural clear springs that form Indian Creek,
which winds south and west to Elk River and on to Oklahoma into Grand Lake. It is near this
fertile location that Henry Taylor built a log house for himself and his family in the early half of
the nineteenth century. Later, the Ezekiel Carter family either bought or traded for this land and
property. By 1844 it, and 8,000 acres of land, was acquired by Moses Eagle. By 1856 several
other farr31ilies (including the Lentz family) traveled from Gold Hill, North Carolina to settle in
the area.

Very little is known about this early settlement other than that it was a crossroads community.
The buggy trails leading to the Stella area later became Highway O, Highway D, and Highway
A.* In addition to its closeness to the trails, it is assumed that the location was desirous because
of the proximity of the streams for fishing and fresh water (apparently Stella was known as the
“Village of Springs,” although when is not certain).’

This land was originally owned by the St. Louis and San Francisco Rail Road for possible rail

j Clanton. The Story of Stella; Pioneer Town of Newton County, Missouri, Newton County. :Pogue, 1976 pp. 5-9
. Via maps courtesy of the Stella Historical Society, accessed December 2007.
Clanton, pp. 5-9
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line use. It was never so utilized; thus in 1880 Moses Eagle was able to purchase a portion of the
land that would later be known as Stella for $200. By 1887 Moses Eagle sold it to Crawford
Eagle for the amount of $300 who then sold it for the same amount to James Carter and Calvin
Lentz who finally transferred it to the public in 1896.° It is unknown if the land was platted at
this time or not.

On March 10, 1884 the post office moved to this small settlement from Kent, two miles to the
west.” With a post office now in the village (exactly where it was during this period is unknown),
the town was in need of a name. Eagle’s granddaughter, Stella, became the source of the name of
the post office and by extension the town. Although now named, the settlement was not
incorporated as a town until 1930 when the population was recorded at 226. Despite this, there
were early commercial trades that supported the local community. In 1890 a blacksmith, a drug
store, a mill, and the Lentz-Carter Merchandise Store were built to serve the local population. 8

James Carter and J.G. Lentz started the mercantile firm on July 5, 1885. They constructed the
building and opened the Lentz-Carter store in 1890. The store was a general merchandise store
in every sense of word. It provided the local citizens with groceries, farm machinery, household
items, hardware, and farm supplies. It has been described as a “...mall of yesteryear.””

General stores were the hub of early village life. They served as a center of cohesion in an
otherwise spread-out agricultural community. By providing a variety of goods, general stores
offered everyday items ranging from clothing and food to hardware to those who would
otherwise have to travel to larger settlements to make their purchases. Likewise they were crucial
to the farming community. Farmers would often bring their produce to the general store to either
sell or trade for other goods. In fact it was not uncommon that general stores extended credit to
farmers in exchange for a portion of their produce during harvest time.'® This relationship
(although at times harder on the farmer who could amass debt) did supply a market for the farmer
and by extension credit for his own needs while also providing the owner of the general store
fresh goods for personal use and marketable products.!! The Lentz-Carter Merchandise Store
catered to Stella’s farming community via goods but also sold farming equipment. In fact a piece
of land to the south was intentionally left vacant for displaying large farm machinery.

The general store was usually one of the first buildings to be constructed in a newly formed
settlement especially in crossroad communities like Stella. In the early 1800’s these ‘stores’ were

° Ibid.
" Stella Historical Society, The Story of Stella and More: Pioneer Community of Newton County Missouri: Book
. Two, Cassville, Mo. : Litho Printers and Bindery, 1988 p. 8
Clanton p. 5-10
90 Howard Spiva, citizen of Stella, interview with Charles and Doris Dalbom (original preparers), May 2007
N F};edeman, The Country Store, Watkins Glen, NY. :Century House, 1955 p. 14
Ibid p. 14
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hardly more than crude trading posts, however as time progressed they generally evolved into
simple buildings barely distinguishable from a residence save for a banner or sign.'? By the late
19 century the general store had reached its apex as a one, two, or three-story building often
times sporting a false front or large parapet to cover an ordinary gable roof. This not only made
the building look bigger at a lower cost but also provided space to boldly write the store’s
name.'* Often times these stores were raised a few feet off the ground so that horse and buggies
could pull up directly to them and load and unload their cargo without having to unload and lift
from the ground."* The two-story Lentz-Carter building, with its large parapet and raised
sidewalk, is a shining example of these practices.

The Lentz-Carter Merchandise Store was the first building built solely for commercial purposes
but was quickly joined by other trades. As stated, by 1890 there was a blacksmith, a bank, a mill,
and a drug store. Not long after, there was also a bank, hardware store, an undertaker, a livery
stable, a tree nursery, two hotels, a photographic studio, and a buggy shop."®

Possibly, there was competition. By 1910 the Shepherd and Lentz Store offered a place for
customers to trade their goods. It is unknown if this was the same Lentz that co-owned the
Lentz-Carter General Merchandise Store, however the Shepherd and Lentz store appears to have
dealt in general goods that could have attracted customers away from the Lentz-Carter
Merchandise Store. Another business that may have offered similar goods at this time was
Atkinson and Carter who sold ladies dresses, groceries, and men’s clothing.16

By the 1920’s, although still not incorporated, Stella had progressed to a bustling small
community. Automobiles were popular in the village by this time and two garages were operating
to provide customers with brand new vehicles. One of these was owned by J.C. Bowers and Bill
Collings who operated a Ford dealership in the early 1920s. Medical services also expanded. A
doctor’s office was in the upper floors of the bank building not far from the Lentz-Carter
building. Across the street from the new office, Dr. C. C. Cardwell opened a hospital in 1920. By
1931 it had a capacity of 10 beds. It closed in 1972, by which time it had grown to 50 beds and
employed 112 people.'’

In the 1920’s to the late 1930’s the Lentz-Carter building was utilized by the community
primarily as a commercial center; however it also served as a gathering place for locals and
organizations. The upper floor was used by the Masonic Lodge of Stella as a meeting hall. The
Mason’s meetings were scheduled on Saturday nights at 7:30 PM on or before the full moon.

12

. Ibid p. 10
Ibid p. 37
Atherton, Main Street on the Middle Border, Bloomington. : Indiana University Press, 1954 p. 44
Clanton p. 9-11
Ibid
" Ibid p. 10

14
15
16
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This was to accommodate members who traveled from outside of town, some as far away as
Powell (about ten and a half miles from Stella), who needed the moonlight to navigate. The
meetings generally took place in the spring, winter, and fall as the second story of the building
was too poorly ventilated to comfortably endure the heat of a Missouri summer.'® Although it is
uncertain exactly when the Mason’s first used the upper floors of the building (most likely in the
1910s or 1920s), it was utilized by the fraternal organization up to the 1970s."°

Another reason locals may have congregated at the Lentz-Carter building was that the first
telephone in Stella was installed in this location. According to the August 31, 1899 Newton
County News, “The hustling little town of Stella is jubilant over the completion of her telephone
line to Neosho. It is a great convenience...Jas. Carter informs us that great care will be necessary
to prevent injury to the instrument which has been placed in the Lentz-Carter building.”

Having served the community for over fifty years the Lentz-Carter General Merchandise Store
closed its doors in 1940. Shortly after ( in the 1940s), the building was reused as a dry goods and
shoe store on the lower floor while the Masonic Lodge continued to utilize the upper floor for
thirty or more years.”’

Stella, as a center of commerce, began to decline as automobiles and highways were improved.
Larger communities that were served by rail lines could provide the goods consumers needed and
also presented a greater variety. During this decline (late1940s and onward) the Lentz-Carter
building has been used by the community as a religious facility, a school for mentally challenged
children, and a flea market. It has recently been purchased by Charles and Doris Dalbom who
plan to restore the building that once was a social centerpiece of Stella’s commercial downtown.

18

Ibid p. 59
Charles and Doris Dalbom, local citizens, interview with Michelle Diedriech (editing), April 14, 2008
Ibid

19
20
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Photographs:

The following is true for all photographs:

Lentz-Carter Building
744 Ozark Street
Stella, Newton County, Missouri

Date: March, May, and July of 2007

Disc included

#1

#2

#3

#4

#5

#6

Front tfagade and south exterior, photographer facing northwest.
Photographer: David Weems July 5, 2007

Rear and side elevation, photographer facing northeast.
Photographer: Deb Sheals March 2008

Detail of storetront, photographer facing north.
Photographer: Deb Sheals March 2008

Interior upper floor, photographer facing east.
Photographer: Deb Sheals March 2008

Photograph of mural from the Newton County Courthouse
Photographer: Chuck Dalbom May 2007

Undated photograph of the Lentz Carter building, most likely early 1900’s. Scanned from
Clanton’s 1976, The Story of Stella; Pioneer Town of Newton County, Missouri. P.8
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Verbal Boundary Description:

Parcel #23-9.0-32-001-012-009.000

Stella, Newton County, MO

Section 32 Town 24 Range 30 Acres 0.00

Pt SW % NE % Beginning SE Comer of Lot 1 Block 1 Stella SW 102’ to point of beginning SW

30°

Westerly 77’NE52°SE 94 to point of beginning

Verbal Boundary Justification:

The nominated property includes the entire parcel historically associated with the Lentz-Carter

Building.

Form Prepared By:

Charles and Doris Dalbom
20768 Reindeer Drive
Stella MO 64867
417-628-3253

November 27, 2007
Original preparers

Michelle Diedriech

State Historic Preservation Office
P.O. Box 176

Jefferson City MO 65102
573-526-1680

April 13, 2008

Additional research and editing
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